Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

Spring 3-25-2019

Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Health Behavior Outcomes

Genna M. Jacobs Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation

Jacobs, Genna M., "Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Health Behavior Outcomes." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2019. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/645

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Georgia State University

ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

Spring 4-24-2019

Examining Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Health Behavior Outcomes

Genna Jacobs

Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation Jacobs, Genna, "Examining Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Health Behavior Outcomes." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2018. <u>https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/576</u>

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

Examining Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Health Behavior Outcomes

Ву

Genna Michelle Jacobs

4/24/19

INTRODUCTION:

Research suggests men feel a high demand to uphold masculine gender norms and masculine discrepancy stress (MDS), is the strain a man feels when he believes he is or thinks he is perceived to be inadequately masculine. It is reasonable to suspect men with MDS would be more likely to act in the stereotypical masculine ways, to confirm masculinity and avoid social repercussions.

AIMs:

(a) Examine if the latent constructs demonstrate significant and moderately large correlations reflecting an underlying psychosocial adjustment factor.

(b)Assess if utilizing structural equation modeling methods, in place of univariate methods, demonstrate significant correlations between MDS, GRD, and the superordinate factor psychosocial adjustment.

(c)Assess if utilizing MDS as a mediator rather than a moderator in a structural equation model demonstrate a significant positive direct effect on psychosocial adjustment, while demonstrating a negative direct effect on psychosocial maladjustment. **METHODS:**

A three phased plan was conducted; (a) assessing measurement models, (b) assessing the measurement model for the superordinate factor psychosocial adjustment, (c) and assessing a full model. The fit of the measurement models will determine which full model will be examined, the superordinate factor model or a model that does not include superordinate factor, which allows for all outcomes to be regressed independently on each predictor.

RESULTS:

No statistically significant results were found.

DISCUSSION:

Possible explanations for results are; misrepresentation of the latent, absence of statistical methodologies needed to assess the latent variables, deficiency in necessary power to detect effects, and measuring GRD and MDS independently of each other does not predispose one to experience maladaptive behavior. Thusly, indicating that future research should focus on a model that utilizes MDS as a mediator and a moderator.

EXAMINING MASCULINE DISCREPANCY STRESS AND HEALTH BEHAVIOR OUTCOMES

by

Genna Jacobs

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment

of the

Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH ATLANTA, GEORGIA

30303

APPROVAL PAGE

EXAMINING MASCULINE DISCREPANCY STRESS AND HEALTH BEHAVIOR OUTCOMES

by

Genna Jacobs

Approved:

Dennis Reidy, PhD

Committee Chair

Dominic Parrott, PhD

Committee Member

Kevin Swartout, PhD

Committee Member

4/24/19

Date

Author's Statement Page

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Genna Jacobs

Signature of Author

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis chair Dr. Dennis Reidy for your dedication, time, and patience.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Kevin Swartout and Dr. Dominic Parrott for your guidance.

I would like to thank my husband, David Freeman for your unconditional support, love, and encouragement.

Thank you to James Overstreet for your knowledge and for proofreading abilities.

Special thanks to my best friend, Meredith Overstreet and family; Nada Jacobs, Steve Jacobs, Corey Jacobs, Hedy Caplan, and Susan Hawkins – thank you for standing beside me, encouraging me, and assisting me throughout this journey.

LIST OF TABLES	i
LIST OF FIGURES	ii
INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
2.1 Overview of Masculinity within a societal context	
2.2 Frameworks5	
2.2.1 Theoretical Approaches to Masculinity and Corresponding Measures	
2.2.2 Gender Role Strain Paradigm7	
2.2.3 Exploring Gender Role Discrepancy Strain/Gender Role Discrepancy and Dysfunction Strain/Stress9	
2.2.3.1 Measurements for Dysfunction Strain	
2.2.3.2 Measurements for Discrepancy Strain	
2.3 Exploring Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress	
2.3.1 Health Behavior Outcomes for Gender Role Discrepancy14	
2.3.2 Health Behavior Outcomes for Masculine Discrepancy Stress16	
2.4 Previous Studies Pertaining to MDS17	
2.5 Objective18	
2.5.1 Research Question18	
2.5.2 Hypothesis18	
METHODS	19
3.1 Participants and Procedure19	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3	3.2 Demographic questionnaire	19
3	3.3 Measures	19
	3.3.1 Predictor Variables	19
	3.3.1.1 Gender Role Descrepency and Discrepancy Stress	19
	3.3.1.2 Abbreviated Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale	20
	3.3.1.3 Male Role Norms Sub-Scale (Antifemininity)	21
	3.3.2 Outcome Variables	21
	3.3.2.1 Psychiatric History	21
	3.3.2.2 Pathological Gambling	21
	3.3.2.3 Substance Use	21
	3.3.2.4 Violence	22
	3.3.2.5 Sexual Risk Behavior	22
3	3.4 Data Analysis	23
	3.4.1 Phase One: Assessing Measurement Models	23
	3.4.2 Phase Two: Assessing the Superordinate Measurement Model	23
	3.4.3 Phase 3:_Full Model(s)	24
RESULTS	5	26
4	1.1 Phase One: Assessing Measurement Models	26
	4.1.1 Predictors	26
	4.1.2 Outcomes	27
4	1.2 Phase Two: Assessing the Superordinate Model	28
4	1.3 Phase Three: Assessing the Full Model	29

4.4 Phase Four (Post Hoc): Assessing the Reduced Models	30	
DISCUSSION		33
5.1 limitations	34	
5.3 Future Directions	36	
5.4 Conclusion	37	
REFERENCES		38
TABLES AND FIGURES		53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic Profile of Sample

Table 2. Fit Indices for the Measurement Models of the Eight Latent Constructs

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Conceptual Superordinate measurement model

Figure 2. Conceptual superordinate model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on super ordinate model psychosocial adjustment.

Figure 3. Conceptual full model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on outcomes.

Figure 4. Conceptual reduced model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Delinquency onset

Figure 5. Conceptual reduced model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Stress on Substance Use.

Figure 6. Conceptual reduced model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Sexual Risk Behavior.

Figure 7. Conceptual reduced I model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Violence.

Figure 8. Conceptual reduced individual model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on STD, Pathological Gambling, and Psychiatric History.

INTRODUCTION

In many cultures, men generally appreciate more opportunities, freedoms, and powers compared to women. These advantages do not appear to translate into better health outcomes for men relative to their social benefits. According to the WHO European Region's review of the social determinants of health (2013), the gender disparity in men's survival rates, reflect several factors; higher levels of occupational exposure to hazards, negative behaviors associated with male norms of risk-taking, and health behavior models related to masculinity. For example, men are less likely to visit a doctor when they are ill and are less likely to report on the symptoms of disease or illness (Galdes, 2009). Therefore, women's higher rates of help-seeking behavior cannot alone be explained by psychosocial differences but could be related to women's greater readiness to communicate distress and discomfort (Galdes, 2009). Health behaviors that involve risk also show very strong gender patterning (WHO,2013).

Taking into consideration the propensity for greater risk-taking behavior and health behavior influenced by masculinity, it is no surprise that globally, health outcomes for men are worse than women. This gender-driven disparity in health has received little regional, national, or global attention from policymakers or health-care professionals (Baker et al., 2014). The Global Burden of Disease study examines the widespread impact of women having a higher life expectancy, compared to men (Wang et al., 2012). Wang and colleagues (2012), looked at the mortality rate for children ages 0-4 years and the probability of adult death for ages 15-59 years, for 187 countries, that had publicly accessible data. Globally from 1970 to 2010, the male life expectancy at birth increased from 56.4 years to 67.5 years and the female life expectancy at birth increased from 61.2 years 73.3 years (Wang et al., 2012). These statistics indicated that the gap in life expectancy at birth widened between the sexes to men's disadvantage over those 40 years. Notably, though gender-based mortality disparity remains, a substantial reduction in the overall global mortality rate has occurred. In 2010, proportionally more deaths occurred at age 70 and older (42.8% in 2010 vs. 33.1% in 1990), and 22.9% occurred at 80 or older (Wang et al., 2012). Deaths in children younger than five declined by almost 60% since 1970 (16.4 million in 1970 vs. 6.8 million in 2010), especially at ages 1-59 months (10.8 million in 1970 vs. 4.0 million in 2010) (Wang et al., 2012). Indicating that international intervention and prevention techniques utilized to tackle overall mortality rates are not the same procedures needed to combat the gender-based differences in mortality rates.

Furthermore, the United States is no less impervious to the gender-based health gap. In the US, men suffer from more severe chronic ailments and die years younger than women (Courtenay, 2000). According to the National Center for Health Statistics (2017), men suffer a greater risk of death by drug overdose, heart disease, cancer, chronic lower respiratory disease, diabetes, and stroke, than compared to women. Between the years of 2006 to 2016, life expectancy at birth in the U.S. for the total population increased 0.8 years (77.8 years of age to 78.6 years of age) (US Statistics, NCHS, 2017). However, reminiscent to the global genderbased health gap, life expectancy in the US was noted to be higher for females than for males; with males averaging between 75.2 to 76.1 years of life and females averaging from 80.3 to 81.1 years of life. (US Statistics, NCHS, 2017).

Many researchers suggest that these disparities in health-related outcomes are influenced by social and cultural expectations about how men and women are supposed to behave (Creighton & Oliffe, 2010; Courtenay, 1999; Eisler, Skidmore, & Ward, 1988; Hunt, 1990;). Specifically, men who adhere to the socially prescribed ideals of masculinity often do so by engaging in unhealthy behaviors (e.g. substance abuse, sexual risk behavior, fighting, reckless driving, etc.) to demonstrate their masculinity (Brown & McCreedy, 1986; Mechanic & Cleary, 1980; Scott-Samuel, Crawshaw, & Oakley 2015). It is important to recognize that the relationship between masculinity and health requires a clear understanding that accounts for both individual agency in making health choices and the social expectations(constructs)that shape health behaviors (Creighton & Oliffe, 2010; Smiler, 2004). In assessing how masculinity affects health behavior in males, it is essential to determine the driving forces that fuel one's ability to make health choices. Therefore, it is critical to examine socially-defined constructs that influence men's health choices

REVIEW of LITERATURE

Overview of Masculinity Within a Societal Context

To better understand how social constructs, affect and or possibly drive the health of men, it is imperative to understand how the concept of masculinity works within our society. Masculinity is a set of socially constructed expectations for how men and boys should behave, look, experience and express emotion (Mahalik et al., 2003). Despite strong consistency, masculinity is not a single universal set of norms but can vary across cultures, persons, and time (Courtenay, 2000). Moreover, conformity to these socially prescribed norms exists on a continuum with some men adhering more firmly to some standards versus others (Mahalik et al., 2003). Hence, men within each culture interpret their meaning of what it is to be a "man." Despite varying conceptions or norms of masculinity, there have been several persistent traits, attitudes, and interests' men are expected to show in contemporary society (Pleck, 1976). For example, physical strength, intellect, interpersonal capabilities, and achievements are dominant images of masculine attainment (Pleck, 1976). Dahl, Vescio, and Weaver (2015) argue that three universally accepted attributes are fundamental to masculinity. The first attribute, "toughness," requires boys and men to demonstrate immunity to pain and suffering within physical, emotional, and mental domains. Second, men should reject behaving in all ways feminine. Finally, men should act in ways that demonstrate power, status, and dominance over other domains. In masculine domination, men are not only expected to establish supremacy over other men, but authority is extended over females (Connell & Messerschmidt, 2005).

Hegemonic masculinity is connected to the institutionalization of men's dominance over women (Demetriou, 2001). Connell and colleagues initially developed the concept of hegemonic masculinity in the late 1970s (Carrigan, Connell & Lee, 1985; Connell,1983). On some occasions, it is related to the power attained by specific groups of men and explains how they have occupied a hierarchical position in society to the detriment of women (Hearn & Morrell, 2012). At other times, it is referred to as a collective set of social processes, to which all or almost all men aspire, as in the patriarchal dividend (Hearn & Morrell, 2012). Hegemonic masculinity has been conceptualized in many ways, but perhaps most usually as a set of values established by men, that function to organize society unequally by gender. These values are maintained or perpetuated by men and women (Coltra, 1994; Connell, 1987). The complexity is that it is a historical convention imbued by the construct of masculinity and has endured because it has become embedded in the way our society is organized. Like this, for hegemonic masculinity to exist, one must prescribe to the definition of masculinity.

Furthermore, confirmation of and adherence to masculine attributes likely explain the

universal association between masculinity and a myriad of maladaptive behaviors (Courtenay, 2000). Research suggests men feel a high demand to uphold these masculine gender norms, because role violators risk penalties (Moore et al., 2008; Pleck, 1995; Reidy et al., 2014). That is, others often mistreat gender norm violators by way of social and economic consequences and backlash (Rudman, 1998; Rudman et al., 2012a 2012b; Rudman & Glick, 1999, 2001). Backlash often consists of prejudice (social penalties), which in turn can lead to discrimination (economic penalties) (Burgess & Borgida, 1999; Heilman, 2001; Rudman et al., 2012a). Within a work or educational setting, prejudice may manifest as social ostracism, lack of access to mentoring, loss of social capital, and bullying; discrimination can take the form of not being hired, advancement failure, inequitable pay, and wrongful termination (Moss-Racusin et al., 2012; Rudman & Phelan, 2008). In these ways, backlash can serve to limit individuals' freedom of expression, by the threat of prejudice and discrimination. (Rudman et al., 2012a 2012b; Rudman & Fairchild, 2004). Furthermore, men who fear these social penalties frequently have internal conflict or stress over the need to adhere to the socially prescribed norms of masculinity and report higher rates of internal or emotional struggle (Good & Mintz, 1990; Good & Wood 1995; Jakupcak, Lisak & Roemer, 2002; Lash, Eisler & Schulnian 1990; Sharpe & Heppner, 1991).

Frameworks

Theoretical Approaches to Masculinity and Corresponding Measures

The literature on masculinity is quite extensive. Therefore, at the most general level, there are four broad theoretical approaches used to define masculinity: First, the trait perspective, which is exemplified by the "male sex role identity" model (Pleck, 1981). This perspective discussed the concepts of gender ambiguity and theorized the consequences of males acquiring the personality traits and behaviors culturally defined as masculine and or feminine. In short, a "traditional male "has culturally defined masculine characteristics. Basically, the trait approach attempted to directly measure men's degree of masculine orientation through self-identification (e.g., "I am assertive, tough, etc."), often utilizing measures such as the Bem Sex Role Inventory (BSRI; Bem, 1984), the Personal Attributes Questionnaire (PAQ; Spence, Helmreich, & Holahan, 1979), and the Hypermasculinity Inventory (HMI; Mosher & Sirkin, 1984). The second model is called the normative perspective, which viewed masculinity as an ideology rather than a psychologically (or biologically) based characteristic (Pleck, 1981). Thus, a "traditional male," is one who approves the ideology that men should have these characteristics and women should not. The normative approach asserts that masculinity is a cultural, ideological scripting of gender relations, attitudes, and societal beliefs, (e.g., "men should be assertive, tough, etc."), often measured by the Male Role Norms Scale (MRNS; Thompson & Pleck, 1986), the Attitudes Toward Women Scale (ATW; Spence & Helmreich, 1972), or the Sex-Role Egalitarianism Scale (SRE; Beere, King, Beere, & King, 1984) scales. The third approach is the gender role stress or conflict approach. This approach is based on the gender role conflict/strain paradigm originally formulated by Pleck (1981, 1995). This approach assumes that gender roles are fluid and often breached by men, resulting in negative consequences, where the attitudes thought to stem from masculinity are being measured (e.g., making less money than your female partner) (Moore & Stuart, 2005). Measures assessing this approach include the Gender Role Conflict Scale (GRCS; O'Neil et al., 1986) and the Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale (MGRS; Eisler & Skidmore, 1987). Lastly, the indirect approach

involves using indirect methods, such as positive attitudes toward violence, a high need for power, and control in relationships (Moore & Stuart, 2005). Examples of measures that have been used in this approach include the Acceptance of Interpersonal Violence Scale (AIV; Burt, 1980), the Marital Power and Decision-Making Scale (DMS; Blood & Wolfe, 1960), and the Inventory of Beliefs about Wife Beating (IBWB; Saunders et al. 1987).

Gender Role Strain Paradigm

For purposes of this paper, it is relevant to explore the gender role stress/conflict approach and from a theoretical point of view, Pleck's (1981) book, The Myth of Masculinity, was pivotal to the research community. This book produced several major research programs that shaped important data and deepened our understanding of the strain men experience when they attempt to live up to the impossibility of the male role. Pleck examined the pervasive theory at the time, the Gender Role Identity Paradigm (GRIP), which assumed that people had an inner psychological need to have a gender role identity and that their personality development hinged on its formation (Pleck, 1981). In this model, the development of appropriate gender role identity is viewed as a "failure-prone process," and a failure for men to achieve a masculine gender role identity is thought to result in homosexuality, negative attitudes toward women, or hypermasculinity (Pleck, 1981). Pleck (1981) then demonstrated that GRIP, which had dominated the research on masculinity since 1930, not only had poorly accounted for the observed data, but also promoted the patriarchal division of society based on stereotyped gender roles. In its place, Pleck (1981) proposed a new paradigm, the Gender Role Strain Paradigm (GRSP).

The Gender Role Strain Paradigm states that gender roles are contradictory and inconsistent (Pleck, 1981). In that the proportion of persons who violate gender roles is high and that violation of gender roles leads to condemnation, and negative psychological consequences and that fear of consequence leads to over conformity (Pleck 1981,1995; Levant,1995). This paradigm builds on an important distinction made between sex and gender (Sherif, 1979; Unger, 1979), with sex referring to biological attributes, and gender relating to the attitudes, feelings, and behaviors that a given society associates with a person's biological sex. This distinction allowed these scholars to break from the former central academic view of masculinity as an integral universal expression of biological maleness and view masculinity as a social role shaped by stereotypes and norms and even as a social performance that could be enacted by inhabitants of either gender; male or female (Levant, 2011). Even though GRSP is not sex specific, it is more often associated with men than women, using such instruments as the Bem Sex-Role Inventory (BSRI; Bem, 1974) and the Personal Attributes Questionnaire (PAQ; Spence & Helmreich, 1978).

In an update of the GRSP, Pleck (1995) pointed out that his original formulation of the paradigm stimulated research on three varieties of male gender role strain; termed discrepancy strain, dysfunction strain, and trauma strain. These propositions are three distinct routes through which masculine socialization may create problems for boys and men. First, the process by which masculinity is taught may be traumatic (Pleck, 1995). For example, a boy may be told by his peers to "man up" rather than back down from a fight. Pleck (1995) described this as, trauma strain. Second, a psychological strain may result from maintaining normative masculine expectations, a process termed as dysfunction strain (Pleck, 1995). For example, men who adhere to prevailing masculine norms that prescribe dominance in interpersonal interactions may experience significant difficulties maintaining healthy intimate relationships. Third, discrepancy strain may result when one fails to meet external or internalized masculine expectations (Pleck, 1995); this occurs when violations are made to traditional masculine norms.

Essentially, discrepancy strain occurs when one fails to live up to one's internalized manhood ideal, which may closely approximate traditional norms (Pleck,1995). Dysfunction strain results when one fulfills the requirements of the masculine norms because many of the characteristics viewed as desirable in men can have negative side effects on the men themselves and on others, including those close to them (Pleck, 1995). Lastly, the concept of trauma strain is usually applied to certain groups of men whose experiences with gender role strain are thought to be particularly harsh (Pleck, 1995). As for current applications of trauma strain, researchers seek to explore the strain that men experience who are marginalized, such as; African Americans, men who identify as gay or bisexual, veterans, and survivors of child abuse (Brooks, 1990; Harrison, 1995; Lazur & Majors, 1995; Lisak, 1995; Sa'nchez, Westefeld, Liu, & Vilain, 2010). Therefore, because of the novelty and specific nature of trauma strain, research into that modality is less extensive compared to the realms of discrepancy strain and dysfunction strain.

Exploring Gender Role Discrepancy Strain and Gender Role Dysfunction Strain/Stress

Gender role discrepancy strain is based on the more general construct of discrepancy strain, which refers to the strain resulting from a person's behavior being inconsistent with socially prescribed norms (Garnets & Pleck, 1979; Kaplan, 2003; Komarovsky, 1976; Pleck, 1981, 1995). Gender role discrepancy strain or gender role discrepancy (GRDS or GRD) is thought to occur when a man fails to live up to his own internalized or ideal gender role norms, which produces a discrepancy between how he thinks men ought to be and how he perceives himself to be (Pleck, 1981, 1995). According to Pleck (1995), a full and valid assessment of discrepancy strain requires a methodology with the capacity to capture the meaning of what it is to be a man, in an ever-changing society. Therefore, accessing an appropriate measure of this construct has proved to be quite difficult.

Dysfunction strain or stress describes the idea that fulfilling the requirements of the traditional male role may lead to negative outcomes for men (Pleck, 1981). For example, men are socialized to compete and to value winning at all costs, whereas women are socialized to value the romantic relationship and seek harmony and intimacy within it (Jones & Dembo, 1989; Ruble & Scheer, 1994). Men are also expected to be "tough" and are socialized to withhold their feelings. Emotional expressiveness and self-disclosure are also identified as feminine qualities and, are to be avoided (Burn, 1996; O'Neil, 1981). Measurement scales for this tenet, comes from two lines of investigation, one involving traditional masculinity ideology and the other the gender role conflict (GRC) construct (Levant, 2011).

Measurements for Dysfunction Strain

In exploring the two lines of measurement, the first is the traditional masculinity ideology. Levant & Richmond (2007) conducted an extensive review of the literature which endorsed traditional masculinity ideals and its central measurement tool, the male role norms inventory (MRNI; Levant et al., 1992). MRNI scale is known to evaluate the endorsement of traditional masculinity ideology and Levant & Richmond (2007) determined that this tool was associated with a range of problematic individual and relational variables. However, mixed results were found on the relationship between endorsement and social support among gay men (Levant & Richmond, 2007).

The second line of investigation involved the gender role conflict (GRC) construct, the development of which was stimulated by the GRSP (O'Neil, 2008). Gender-role conflict is a psychological state where gender roles have negative consequences for the individual or others (O'Neil, 2008). The ultimate outcome of this conflict is the restriction of the person's ability to actualize their human potential or the restriction of some else's potential (O'Neil, Helms, Gable, Davis, & Wrightsman, 1986). O'Neil (2008) indicated that GRC construct is related to all three types of gender role strain, but most definitively to dysfunction strain. Dysfunction strain has the most theoretical relevance to GRC, because it speaks to negative outcomes from endorsing restrictive gender role norms. The centerpiece of the GRC research program is the Gender Role Conflict Scale I (O'Neil, Helms, Gable, Davis, & Wrightsman, 1986), which assesses four domains of GRC in men: (a) success, power, and competition; (b) restrictive emotionality; (c) restrictive affectionate behavior between men; and (d) conflict between work and family relations). Thusly, indicating the GRCS as an appropriate evaluator of dysfunction strain (O'Neil et al., 1986,). Unlike discrepancy strain, dysfunction strain proved to be an easier construct to measure.

Measurements for Discrepancy Strain

Recently, researchers attempted to use Pleck's (1995) guidelines to address the lack of sound measurement for discrepancy strain. The first method used a comparison between

ratings of the self-ideal and the self-concept test; it was not very useful (Pleck, 1995). Also, there was the work of Eisler and Skidmore (1987), who developed a scale measuring Masculine Gender Role Stress (MGRS). This approach inquired to what degree participants would experience situations that were discrepant with male role norms as stressful. The scale specifically asks men to rate the degree of stress they would anticipate experiencing in domains of physical inadequacy, expression of tender emotions, subordination to women, a threat to intellectual control, and failure in work and sexual behavior. Therefore, the MGRS could be considered a measure of stress reactivity not specific to gender role strain and perhaps more likely a measure of dysfunction strain rather than discrepancy strain.

Continuing to search for an appropriate measure for discrepancy strain, Nabavi (2004) developed the Masculine Attitudes, Stress, and Conformity Questionnaire (MASC). This new instrument was designed to assess various aspects of the masculine ideology and gender role conflict; which included attitudes about what men should be like and how their behavior corresponds to those attitudes, and the level of distress resulting from male role expectations (Nabavi, 2004). The results of this study suggested that the MASC was a reliable and valid measure of masculinity attitudes, stress, conformity, and attitude/conformity discrepancy. Although, it required further modifications. In response to the work of Nabavi (2004), Rummell and Levant (2010), continued to examine the lack of psychometrically sound ways to measure GRDS. The authors used a two-pronged study to explore the relationship between GRDS and self-esteem (Rummell and Levant, 2010). The GRSP predicted that GRDS would be negatively related to self-esteem (Rummell & Levant, 2010). However, after two successive studies that tested this relationship, the results failed to support the above hypothesis (Rummell & Levant, 2010). This study provided researchers with a new understanding of both GRDS and GRSP (Rummell & Levant, 2010). These authors suggested future theory building should focus on redefining GRSP, for a world where traditional masculine norms may be changing. Therefore, paying greater attention to the construct of rejecting male gender norms (Rummell and Levant, 2010). In further exploration into GRD, Reidy and colleagues (2014) developed a measure to assess the experience of masculine discrepancy stress (MDS), by distinguishing self-perceptions of deficient masculinity (gender role discrepancy) from the experience of stress owing to this discrepancy (discrepancy stress (DS) or masculine discrepancy stress (MDS)). The respondents answered five questions about discrepancy stress (i.e., "I wish I were manlier." "I wish I was interested in things that other guys find interesting." "I worry that people judge me because I am not like the typical man." "Sometimes I worry about my masculinity." 'I worry that women find me less attractive because I'm not as macho as other guys"). Results indicated that MDS significantly predicted men's historical perpetration of IPV, independent of other masculinity related variables. Essentially, Reidy and colleagues (2014), created a scale that appropriately parsed gender discrepancy and the masculine discrepancy stress, which is a very important measure, in terms of this study.

Exploring Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress

For purposes of this paper, it is important to examine the relationship between gender role descrepancy and masculine discrepancy stress. Research indicates that GRD by itself does not predispose one to the experience of distress and consequent maladaptive behavior (Reidy, 2018b). It is quite likely that there are men who consider themselves to be non-conformant or less masculine than the typical man, but who do not experience attendant distress regarding the lack of conformity (Reidy et al., 2018b). As such, perceived gender role discrepancy does not, by itself, reflect a dysfunctional state (Reidy et al., 2018b). However, men who place a high value on appearing masculine and who experience distress about being perceived as gender role discrepant may be at risk for behavioral and mental health problems (Reidy et al., 2018b). Therefore, Reidy and colleagues (2018b) gathered that there was reason to believe that the association between GRD and negative psychosocial functioning in males, may be attributable to MDS. It follows that men who experience high levels of MDS, would be at risk to engage in a number of unsafe behaviors in attempt to demonstrate and equalize their perceived masculinity to that of other men (Alfred, Hammer, & Good, 2014; Mahalik, Lagan, & Morrison, 2006; Mahalik, Levi-Minzi, & Walker, 2007; O'Neil, 2008; Sanders, 2011). In examining MDS, Pleck (1995) detailed that this type of stress arises when one fails to live up to the socially mandated role of masculinity. As stated, MDS occurs when a man feels stressed about the belief that he is, or the perceived belief to be, insufficiently masculine (Reidy, 2014). It is reasonable to suspect men with MDS would be more likely to act in the stereotypical masculine ways, to confirm masculinity and avoid social repercussions (Vandello & Bosson, 2013). Notably, it is very important not to conflate GRD and MDS, because they are two distinct ideas, measuring two discrete constructs. However, it is conceptually and methodologically useful to recognize MDS is a consequence of GRD and likely a driver of adverse health consequences for men.

Health Behavior Outcomes for Gender Role Discrepancy

Gender roles and their strict application play a significant role in the manifestation of health-related behaviors and outcomes. From an early age, socially prescribed gender roles dictate how boys should physically and emotionally behave in society (Reidy et al., 2018b). Generally, males are expected to be confident, assertive, hide vulnerable emotions, engage in risk-taking behavior, engage in risky sexual behavior, and establish dominance through violence (Bowleg et al., 2011; Mahalik et al., 2003; Mosher & Sirkin, 1984; Reidy et al., 2016; Vandello & Bosson, 2013). Given these expectations, it is not surprising that research shows gender role adherent males have far greater risks for adverse health outcomes than compared to women. (Courtenay, 2000; Erol & Karpyak, 2015; Mahalik, Lagan, & Morrison, 2006; Mahalik, Levi-Minzi, & Walker, 2007; Sanders, 2011).

It is important to address that despite evidence indicating that conforming to masculine gender roles has deleterious behavioral, physical, and mental health consequences, there is likewise evidence to suggest, that experiencing GRD, may have similar adverse health consequences. For example, GRD youth are more likely to be depressed, attempt suicide, abuse drugs and alcohol, initiate substance use before age 13, be sexually active, initiate sexual intercourse before the age of 13, report less satisfaction with life, and endorse lower ratings of their overall psychological well-being (Goldbach, Tanner-Smith, Bagwell, & Dunlap, 2014; Kann et al., 2016; Reisner et al., 2015; Rieger & Savin-Williams, 2012; Savin-Williams & Ream, 2003; Toomey, Ryan, Diaz, Card, & Russell, 2010). Of note, the negative association of GRD with psychosocial adjustment (i.e., behavioral and mental health) appears to be more robust for males relative to females (D'Augelli, Grossman, & Starks, 2006; Rieger & Savin-Williams, 2012). Notably, there is a reason to believe the association between males' GRD and poor psychosocial functioning may be due to MDS.

Health Behavior Outcomes for Masculine Discrepancy Stress

In exploring MDS and heath behavior outcomes, it is important to note that previous research by Reidy and colleagues reported mixed support for masculine discrepant men and direct effects on health outcome behaviors. For example, Reidy et al. (2014), found main effects for MDS on the perpetration of psychological, physical, and sexual intimate partner violence against women by heterosexual men. Conversely, when looking at dating and sexual violence among adolescent boys, MDS was unrelated to all forms of dating violence. It was, however, associated with a heightened risk of perpetrating sexual violence against a non-dating partner (Reidy et al., 2015). Additionally, Reidy and colleagues examined the impact of MDS on sexual risk behavior, substance use, and general violence among adult males (Reidy et al., 2016a & 2016b). While they found an effect of MDS on some violent and sexual risk behaviors, there was no association to substance use. (Reidy et al., 2016a & 2016b). Reidy and colleagues (2018b), examined the potential effect of MDS on adolescent boys, who may be more malleable and susceptible to the influence and pressures of gender socialization. Structural equation modeling was utilized to test the effects of GRD and MDS on psychosocial maladjustment measured via sexual behavior, substance use, violence, mood disorder symptoms, and hopelessness. The findings indicated that MDS was associated with greater maladjustment, while self-identified gender role nonconformity was associated with less maladjustment, after the effect of MDS was removed (Reidy et al., 2018b). Overall, these results showed that discrepancy stressed boys are more likely to engage in health risk behavior, as a means of speculatively demonstrating gender role conformity (Reidy et al., 2018b).

Previous Studies Pertaining to MDS

Several studies by Reidy and colleagues, (2014, 2015, 2016a, & 2018b) showed varied results about the connection between MDS and health outcomes. Limitations in these studies could explain the disparity in results. First, univariate regression was utilized instead of structural equation modeling (Reidy et al., 2014, 2015, & 2016a). In that, univariate regression is an inferior statistical methodology that can attenuate possible associations because of measurement error (Reidy et al., 2014 & 2015). Utilizing a Structural equation modeling method allows analysis of complex relationships between one or more variables while removing the effect of measurement error. Another notable limitation was that the behavioral health outcomes associated with MDS were evaluated independently of one another. Many of the health-related issues co-occur, therefore analyzing them together would allow for greater control of covariances and would hold greater statistic validity.

Additionally, MDS was utilized as a moderator of the relationships between selfidentified gender role nonconformity and behavior, instead of as a mediator. In this situation, a moderation model of MDS is conceptually invalid, as it suggests causal independence between gender role discrepancy (i.e., nonconformity) and discrepancy stress. A moderation model would also indicate that an individual could be low on the discrepancy continuum (i.e., high gender role conforming) yet experience a significant degree of MDS. Within the context of this study, MDS is expected to be a consequence of GRD. Like this, a mediation model is a more accurate model. This model has been tested and supported most recently in the youth samples (Reidy et al., 2016a & 2018b).

Objective

The objective of this study is to employ methods that will examine how MDS affects

health behavior outcomes for men. The specific health outcomes assessed include substance

use, violence, sexual risk behavior, pathological gambling, and presence of psychiatric history.

Research Questions

- Given the well-established associations among substance use, violence, sexual risk behavior, pathological gambling, and presence of psychiatric history (Ford et al., 2010; Oquendo et al., 2003; Reidy et al., 2018a 2018b), will the expected latent constructs to demonstrate significant and moderately large correlations reflecting an underlying psychosocial adjustment factor?
- 2. Given previous research (Reidy et al., 2018b), will utilizing structural equation modeling methods, in place of univariate methods, demonstrate significant correlations the GRD, MDS, and the superordinate factor psychosocial adjustment?
- Given previous research (Reidy et al., 2018b) will utilizing MDS as a mediator rather than a moderator in a structural equation model, demonstrate that MDS has a significant positive direct effect on psychosocial adjustment, while GRD will demonstrate a negative direct effect on psychosocial maladjustment

Hypotheses

- Given the well-established associations among substance use, violence, sexual risk behavior, pathological gambling, and presence of psychiatric history (Ford et al., 2010; Oquendo et al., 2003; Reidy et al., 2018a 2018b), we expected these latent constructs to demonstrate significant and moderately large correlations reflecting an underlying psychosocial adjustment factor.
- 2. Given previous research (Reidy et al., 2018b), we expect that by utilizing structural equation modeling methods, in place of univariate methods, MDS and GRD will demonstrate significant correlations the superordinate factor psychosocial adjustment.
- Given previous research (Reidy et al., 2018b) we expect utilizing MDS as a mediator rather than a moderator in a structural equation model, MDS will demonstrate a significant positive direct effect on psychosocial adjustment, while GRD will demonstrate a negative direct effect on psychosocial maladjustment

METHODS

Participants and Procedure

Six-hundred men (13% Asian; 7% Black or African-American; 72% Caucasian; 7% Hispanic or Latino) ages 18–50 (M_{age} = 27.2; SD = 6.8) were recruited via Amazon's Mechanical Turk (MTurk) web site. Table 1 provides demographic information. This site permits the online collection of data and typically offers greater sample diversity than typical convenience samples (Buhrmester, Kwang, & Gosling, 2011). The sample was restricted to men from the U.S. only because gender socialization is culturally driven and may differ by country. The U.S. Individuals who participated were compensated \$2.00 each for completion of the questionnaires. This data set was previously utilized. Therefore, there was no need for IRB approval and consent statements for the current study. The study population of interest was adult males in the United States.

Demographic Questionnaire

Participants responded to a series of questions about age, ethnicity, marital status, relationship history, self-identified sexual orientation, and level of education.

Measures

Predictor variables

Gender role discrepancy and discrepancy stress

GRD and DS/MDS (Reidy et al., 2014) scale, respondents answered 5 Likert-type questions (1 "Strongly Agree" to 7 "Strongly Disagree") pertaining to the experience of perceived gender role discrepancy (i.e., "I am less masculine than the average guy," "compared to my guy friends I am not very masculine," "most women I know would say that I'm not as masculine as my friends," "most guys would say I'm not very masculine compared to them," "most women would consider me to be less masculine than the typical guy") and 5 Likert-type questions about discrepancy stress (i.e., "I wish I was more manly," "I wish I were interested in things that other guys find interesting," "I worry that people judge me because I'm not like the typical man," "sometimes I worry about my masculinity," "I worry that women find me less attractive because I'm not as macho as other guys").

Abbreviated Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale

The abbreviated MGRS (Swartout, Parrott, & Cohn, 2015), utilizes the 15 items with the highest item-to-total scale correlations. Psychometric properties of each of the 15 items were examined with item response theory (IRT) analysis (Swartout et al., 2015). Item response theory results showed that the abbreviated scale might hold promise at capturing the same amount of information as the full 40-item scale (Swartout et al., 2015). The abbreviated MGRS scale assessed men's experience of stress associated with events related to the male gender role, including physical inadequacy, expressing tender emotions, subordination to women, intellectual inferiority, and failure at work or sex (Eisler & Skidmore, 1987). Respondents rate situations according to how stressful they feel, if involved in each situation. Scoring is done by using a 6-point Likert scale (0 "not at all stressful" to 5 "extremely stressful"), with higher scores indicating greater masculine role stress, (i.e., "Being outperformed at work by a woman" (Subordination to Women), "Being perceived by someone as gay" (Physical Inadequacy), "Admitting that you are afraid of something" (Emotional Inexpressiveness), "Having people say that you are indecisive" (Intellectual Inferiority), "Getting passed over for a promotion" (Performance Failure).

Male Role Norms Sub-Scale

In examining MRNS (MRNS; Thompson & Pleck, 1986), according to Moore and Stuart (2005), the MRNS adheres to the normative approach of measuring masculinity in that "rather than examining how men describe themselves, this approach examines masculinity in terms of men's beliefs about how men and women should think, feel, and behave, as well as their rights and roles in society". Scores on the MRNS correlate with men and women's attitudes toward men and are inversely related to attitudes of gender equality (Thompson & Pleck, 1995). This scale is a 26-item Likert-type scale (1 "strongly disagree" to 7 "strongly agree") that measures traditional Western masculine ideology relating to status, toughness, and antifemininity.

Outcome Variables

Psychiatric History

Each participant's psychiatric history was measured via one indicator. Participants indicated (a) have you been diagnosed with a mental illness? Participants answered using 1 for "yes" and 2 for "no."

Pathological Gambling

Participants indicated how many times they had "lost more money than you can afford." Participants answered using a discrete (count) response.

Substance Use

Each participant's substance use disorder was measured via six indicators taken from the Crime and Analogous Behavior scales (CAB; Miller & Lynam, 2003). Participants indicated how many times per month they had (a)"consumed alcohol, until intoxicated" and (b) "used illegal drugs, (marijuana, hashish, cocaine, ecstasy, mushrooms, heroin, speed, pills, etc.)." Participants answered how old when you first (c) "got "buzzed" or drunk" and (d)" used illegal drugs." Participants answered how many times you have (e) driven while "buzzed", drunk or high and (f) "How many times have been arrested for driving under the influence of drugs or alcohol in your lifetime." Participants answered using discrete (count) responses for items; a, b, e, and f and answered using continuous responses for; c and d.

Violence

Each participant's violence was measured via four indicators taken from the CAB scale (Miller & Lynam, 2003). Participants indicated how many times have you (a) "been in a physical fight with another", (b) "attacked someone with the intent to cause harm, injure, rape, or kill," (c) "attacked someone with a weapon with intent to harm, injure, rape, or kill" and (d) "intentionally hurt someone to a degree that he/she needed bandages or a doctor." Participants answered using discrete (count) responses.

Sexual Risk Behavior

Each participant's sexual risk behavior was measured via four indicators taken from the CAB scale (Miller & Lynam, 2003). Participants indicated how old were you when you first (a) "intercourse (vaginal or anal)". Participants indicated how many (b)" partners have you had sexual intercourse with," (c) "times have you had unprotected intercourse, with someone you were not in a relationship with" and (d) "times have you been diagnosed with a sexually transmitted disease." Participants answered using discrete (count) responses on items; b, c, and d and used continuous responses for item a.

Data Analysis

All analyses employed structural equation modeling (SEM) in Mplus version 8.0. Structural equation modeling takes factor analysis one step further by relating the constructs to each other and to covariates in a system of linear regressions thereby purging the biasing effects of measurement error. All robust estimation and missing data were handled using maximum likelihood parameter estimates (MLR) for nonbinary data. Maximum likelihood parameter estimates were utilized because this estimator leads to better standard errors, due to utilization of weights.

Phase One: Assessing Measurement Models

During the first phase measurement models were tested through confirmatory factor analysis. This is done to describe the relationship between observed variables (e.g., instruments) and the construct or constructs those variables are hypothesized to measure and ultimately determine a best fitting model. Models were deemed to fit the underlying data adequately when the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) reached 0.08 and the Comparative Fit Index (CFI)/Tucker Lewis Index (TLI) reached .90. For those measurement models that could not achieve adequate fit, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) would be conducted, utilizing the chi square difference test, to identify the best fitting factor structure. Phase Two: Assessing the Superordinate Measurement Model

During the second phase, we tested the existence of the superordinate model. This is an aggregate or a second order latent variable composed of the outcomes, psychiatric history, pathological gambling, substance use, violence, and sexual risk behavior. See Figure 1 below for conceptual Superordinate Measurement Model that was tested.



The presence of a superordinate model would be confirmed when adequate measure is achieved with root means square error of approximation (RMSEA) reaching 0.08 and the Comparative Fit Index (CFI)/Tucker Lewis Index (TLI) reaches .90.

Phase 3: The Full Model(s)

If an adequate superordinate measurement model is obtained, the next step is regressing the higher order psychosocial adjustment factor on our predictor constructs, demonstrating their associations to the shared variance of the five first order outcomes. See Figure 2 below for the conceptual Superordinate SEM that will be tested.


If the superordinate measurement model is unidentified, we will eliminate the superordinate factor and measure the influence of four predictors GRD, MDS, MGRS, and MRNS (antifemininity) on seven independent outcomes, delinquency onset, substance use, sexual risk behavior, violence, STD, pathologic gambling, and psychiatric diagnosis. This model aimed to regress each outcome on each predictor, creating a multivariate multiple regression SEM. See Figure 3 below for the conceptual Full SEM that was tested.



RESULTS

Phase One: Assessing Measurement Models

Predictors

Table 2 indicated below provides results of confirmatory factor analyses assessing the

measurement models

Latent Construct	Indicators	Correlated Residuals	RMSEA	90% CI	CFI	TLI	X ² (df)	р	Loadings
				.023-					
GRD	5	1	.060	.101	.995	.988	12.2 (4)	.02	<u>></u> .78
				.038-					
MDS	5	0	.070	.105	.990	.980	18.8(5)	.00	<u>></u> .54
				.070-			372.8		
MGRS	15	6	.078	.087	.927	.908	(84)	.00	<u>></u> .43
				.054-					
MRNS(a)	8	1	.071	.088	.972	.959	71.8 (19)	.00	<u>></u> .62
				.000-					
SU	6	1	.013	.052	.996	.992	8.8(8)	.36	<u>></u> .20
				- 000.					
SRB	4	1	.000	.110	1.0	1.005	0.916(1)	.34	<u>></u> .12
				- 000.					
Viol	4	0	.000	.000	1.0	1.0	0.0 (0)	.00	<u>></u> .06

Adequate model fit for the construct MDS was obtained without modification. However, model fit for the constructs GRD required one correlated residual and the abbreviated MGRS scale required 6 correlated residuals. When evaluating the male role norms scale, tests of measurement fit indicated that original factor structure presented by Thompson & Pleck (1995) did not adequately represent the data. Therefore, an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was conducted by means of a chi-square difference test. This test indicated that a four-factor model had the best fit, with a chi-square test of 687.577, degrees of freedom of 227, with a RMSEA of 0.060, CFI of 0.933, and a TLI of 0.904. This new subscale was composed of eight questions,

measuring a latent construct was labeled "Antifemininity", as it is most consistent with the original antifemininity subscale identified by Thompson & Pleck (1995). Additionally, the new MRNS subscale required modification, through one correlated residual.

Outcomes

Adequate model fit was identified for the latent variable, substance use. However, one factor loadings for four indicators small (< .4) albeit significant. Given that the most liberal recommendations for factor analysis suggest you should only retain indicators that load at \geq .4, we determined that these items were not sufficiently measuring a single latent construct. We therefore were unable to obtain valid measurement model for substance use. Fit indices for sexual risk behavior suggested adequate fit. However, two of the four indicators loadings were at .20 and lower, suggesting these items were not validly tapping a sexual risk latent construct. The measurement model for the violence construct achieved adequate fit with four indicators. However, one indicator loaded below .10, removing that item produced a just identified model that perfectly fit the data.

Given our inability to obtain adequately fitting models for our latent outcomes, we conducted an exploratory factor analysis of items across constructs, utilizing the chi square difference test, to identify the best fitting factor structure for each outcome. An EFA was conducted to secure that the outcome variables; substance use, violence, and sexual risk behavior, were evaluating the latent variable they were intended to measure. It was determined that the six substance use indicators, four violence indicators, and four sexual risk behavior indicators would be more acceptable as five latent constructs: delinquency onset (four indicators; how old were you the first time you, (a) got buzzed or drunk, (b) " used illegal drugs", (c) were arrested, and (d)had intercourse .), substance use (2 indicators; how many times per month do, (a) drink alcohol, until intoxicated, (b) use illegal drugs (marijuana, hashish, cocaine, ecstasy, mushrooms, heroin, speed, pills, etc.), sexual risk behavior (two indicators; (a) How many times have you had unprotected intercourse, with someone you were not in a relationship with" and (b) With how many partners have you had sexual intercourse (vaginal or anal.), std (one indicator; (a) How many times have you been diagnosed with a sexually transmitted disease.), and violence (three indicators; How many times have you, (a) been in a physical fight with another individual, (b) attacked someone with the intent to harm, injure, rape or kill, and (c) attacked someone with a weapon, intending to harm, injure, rape or kill.) Therefore, creating seven outcomes assessed in this model; delinquency onset, sexual risk behavior, substance use violence, STD, psychiatric diagnosis, and pathologic gambling

Phase Two: Assessing the Superordinate Model

In this phase we tested the first hypothesis, demonstrating significant and moderately large correlations reflecting an underlying psychosocial adjustment factor. After examining several incarnations, which consisted of correlating residuals, fixing residuals to zero, and removing items, it was determined that the model was not adequate due to negative residuals and standardized estimates above one. A decision was made to change the theoretical model and eliminate the superordinate factor.

Phase Three: Assessing the Full Model

Due to the inability to obtain an identified model utilizing a superordinate factor, a second model we refer to here as the full SEM see figure 3 was examined. In this model each of



the seven outcomes identified in our EFA was simultaneously regressed on all predictors.

Results model estimation yielded a series of problematic item functioning that precluded interpretation. Several items produced Heywood cases with negative residuals and standardized loading values greater than 1.0. In the measurement models to be above 1; violence had an estimate of 1.546 with a negative residual of -1.391, STD had an estimate of 1.266 with a negative residual variance of-0.60 3, and psychiatric history had an estimate of 3.021 with a negative residual of -8.129. In order to remedy a negative variance, either model reconsideration is in order or item modification. Our efforts consisted of removing items and or fixing variances to zero. After exhausting all efforts, a decision was made to change the theoretical model and assess the outcomes in solely in individual SEMs

Phase Four (Post Hoc): Assessing the Reduced Models

Due to the inability to obtain an interpretable model utilizing the full SEM including all outcomes in a single model, a series of exploratory reduced SEMs examining each outcome individually were estimated (Figures 4-8).







Regarding model fit, the reduced SEMs with the outcomes of; delinquency onset, substance use, sexual risk behavior, and violence (figures 4-7), all had adequate fitting models. However, the reduced SEM containing combined outcomes of STD, psychiatric diagnosis, and pathologic gambling proved to be unidentified (figure 8). This SEM had negative residuals and standardized loading values greater than 1.0; STD had an estimate of 1.264, with a negative residual of-0.598 and psychiatric history had an estimate of 3.021, with a negative residual of -8.125. Furthermore, the standardized models indicated no statistically significant results. Even though, psychiatric history appears to have established significance negative direct effect, when regressed on MDS, (individual SEM b-0.054, SE 0.025, p 0.031); as previously stated, this model had both negative variances and standardized loadings above 1.0. After exhausting all efforts, it was determined that adequate model fit would not be rendered.

DISCUSSION

The goal of the present research was threefold: (a) Examining latent constructs to demonstrate significant and moderately large correlations reflecting an underlying psychosocial adjustment factor (b) Utilization of structural equation modeling methods, in place of univariate methods, MDS and GRD will demonstrate significant correlations the superordinate factor psychosocial adjustment, and (c) Utilization of MDS as a mediator rather than a moderator in a structural equation model, MDS will demonstrate a significant positive direct effect on psychosocial adjustment, while GRD will demonstrate a negative direct effect on psychosocial adjustment.

Due to lack of interpretable results, with regards to our subordinate construct, the outcomes were measured independently. The results from this model yet again yielded uninterpretable results. As a final effort, a post hoc analysis was done, yielding four models with statistically insignificant results and one model with uninterpretable results. Concluding that we do not have enough information to the support the study's aims. Notably, our findings were inconsistent with previous studies by Reidy and colleagues that showed main effects for MDS on sexual risk behavior, and general violence and that discrepancy stressed boys were more likely to engage in health risk behavior, as a means of hypothetically demonstrating gender role conformity (Reidy et al., 2016 & 2018).

The study findings are suggestive of several scenarios. First, a lack of understanding of the exact definition(s) of the latent constructs; since latent constructs are theoretical and cannot be observed directly, only measured indirectly through indicators. There is no way of

knowing whether the underlying latent construct has been captured reliably or accurately (Bollen, 2002). Another possible reason for lack of results could be due to the absence of statistical methodologies needed to assess the latent variables. In essence, perhaps the intended latent construct was captured, but the correct statistical methods were not employed to examine the latent variable(s). An additional explanation could be, the results may reflect a deficit in the necessary power to detect effects owing to the number of predictors in this study. Otherwise, it may indicate that measuring GRD and MDS, independently of each other, does not predispose one to experience maladaptive behavior. Furthermore, indicating that perhaps utilizing MDS in a mediation model alone is insufficient.

Limitations

These findings must be interpreted with caution for several reasons. These data are cross-sectional, and these SEM analyses are correlational. There SEM can impede our ability to make causal determinations about masculine discrepancy stress. Expectedly, we cannot manipulate or randomly assign MDS, because of the nature of the study; for this reason, we will never be able to make true causal statements. In relation, any model in SEM analysis will have multiple (potentially even thousands) alternative models that are indistinguishable from the proposed model in terms of goodness of fit to the data (MacCallum, Wegener, Uchino, & Fabrigar, 1993, Reidy et al., 2018).

Furthermore, these models are indistinguishable per fit statistics, only through meaningfulness, theory, and parsimony can one determine appropriate model choice (MacCallum et al., 1993). Therefore, there is potential for competing models. Also, another way that SEM models are approximated is by omitting variables that are implicated in the causal processes or other features of a model (Tomarken, 2005). Such omissions can present a misleading picture of the measurement and causal structure and can result in biased parameter estimates and inaccurate estimates of standard errors (e.g., Kaplan 1989, Mauro 1990, Reichardt 2002).

Additionally, self-reported measures may not accurately reflect real-world behaviors and their prevalence rates. It is reasonable to suspect that some men may have underreported delinquency onset, substance use disorder, and sexual risk behavior, and violence, prevalence of STD, pathological gambling tendencies, and mental health status. Finally, although this sample was arguably more diverse than many typical convenience samples used in psychological-social research, a large proportion of the sample was ethnically homogenous. It remains essential to replicate these findings in alternative samples to determine whether they replicate in samples drawn from other cultures.

Lastly, underlying all mediation methodology is a temporal component (Kazdin, 2007). The theoretical framework in which X operates before M, which then operates before Y, this underlies the conceptualization of a temporal design-based mediation (Winer et al., 2016). Therefore, it is important to be aware of the predictive limitations of cross-sectional studies. A primary limitation of the cross-sectional study design is that the independent and dependent variables are simultaneously assessed, there is generally no evidence of a temporal relationship between the two variables. Essentially, a cross-sectional study is not used to analyze behavior over a period of time.

Future Directions

Despite this study's limitations and lack of significant findings, the present research adds to the existing literature in that it clarifies the need for a deeper understanding of how GRD and MDS function within our society. Ultimately, the goal was to target multiple health risk behaviors for men, through a higher-order construct. Reidy and colleagues (2018) mentioned that traditional prevention strategies are singularly focused, targeting one health outcome. Even though, the findings did not show significant associations; it is likely that MDS may still be that higher-order construct that can treat across fields of public health. Perhaps indicating MDS as both a mediator and a moderator, would proffer results that were more significant. Notably, a mediator focuses on the intervening mechanism that produces the outcome, while a moderator focuses on factors that affect the magnitude of the outcome (Muller, Judd., & Yzerbyt, 2005). According to Muller and colleagues, (2005), mediation and moderated. Papers by Muller, Judd, and Yzerbyt (2005) and Edwards and Lambert (2007) discuss mediated moderation and moderation and moderated mediation and examples of each.

Conclusion

Albeit, there were no meaningful or significant results found in this study, that does not mean that there are is not a second order factor that is associated with MDS and GRD. Ultimately, findings suggest a need for a more in-depth understanding of the latent constructs (MDS and GRD) and methodologies used to assess those factors. Research in this field is critical and continually evolving. Hopefully, this study will add to the growing literature in this field and will aid future studies in the development of prevention strategies that can treat a higher order factor that encompasses multiple outcomes that cut across fields of public health.

REFERENCES

- Addis, M. E., & Mahalik, J. R. (2003). Men, masculinity, and the contexts of help seeking. *American Psychologist*, *58*(1), 5.
- Alfred, G. C., Hammer, J. H., & Good, G. E. (2014). Male student veterans: Hardiness, psychological well-being, and masculine norms. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *15*(1), 95.
- Annandale, E., & Hunt, K. (1990). Masculinity, femininity and sex: an exploration of their relative
 contribution to explaining gender differences in health. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *12*(1), 24–46.
- Baker, P., Dworkin, S. L., Tong, S., Banks, I., Shand, T., & Yamey, G. (2014). The men? s health gap: men must be included in the global health equity agenda. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *92*, 618–620.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(6), 1173.
- Beere, C. A., King, D. W., Beere, D. B., & King, L. A. (1984). The Sex-Role Egalitarianism Scale: A measure of attitudes toward equality between the sexes. *Sex Roles*, *10*(7–8), 563–576.
- Bem, S. L. (1984). Reply to Morgan and Ayim. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, *10*(1), 197–199.
- Berke, D. S., & Zeichner, A. (2016). Man's heaviest burden: A review of contemporary paradigms and new directions for understanding and preventing masculine aggression. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 10(2), 83–91.

Blood Jr, R. O., & Wolfe, D. M. (1960). Husbands and wives: The dynamics of married living.

- Bollen, K. A. (2002). Latent variables in psychology and the social sciences. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *53*(1), 605–634.
- Bowleg, L., Teti, M., Massie, J. S., Patel, A., Malebranche, D. J., & Tschann, J. M. (2011). 'What does it take to be a man? What is a real man?': ideologies of masculinity and HIV sexual risk among Black heterosexual men. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, *13*(05), 545–559.
- Brooks, G. R. (1990). Post-Vietnam gender role strain: A needed concept? Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 21, 18–25. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.21.1.18.
- Brown, J. S., & McCreedy, M. (1986). The hale elderly: health behavior and its correlates. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *9*(4), 317–329.
- Buhrmester, M., Kwang, T., & Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's Mechanical Turk: A new source of inexpensive, yet high-quality, data? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *6*(1), 3–5.
- Burgess, D., & Borgida, E. (1999). Who women are, who women should be: Descriptive and prescriptive gender stereotyping in sex discrimination. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, *5*(3), 665.
- Burn, S. M. (1996). The social psychology of gender. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Carrigan, T., Connell, B., & Lee, J. (1985). Toward a new sociology of masculinity. *Theory and Society*, 14(5), 551–604.
- Coltra, S. (1994). Theorizing masculinities in contemporary social science. *Theorizing masculinities*, *5*, 39.
- Connell, R. W. (1983). *Which way is up?: Essays on sex, class, and culture*. Allen & Unwin Academic. Connel, R. W. (1987). Gender and power: Society, the person and sexual politics. *Polity, Cambridge*, 5-334.

- Connell, R. W., & Messerschmidt, J. W. (2005). Hegemonic masculinity: Rethinking the concept. *Gender & society*, *19*(6), 829-859.
- Courtenay, Will H. (2000). Constructions of masculinity and their influence on men's well-being: a theory of gender and health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *50*(10), 1385–1401.
- Courtenay, William Henry. (1999). Better to die than cry? A longitudinal and constructionist study of masculinity and the health risk behavior of young American men. (PhD Thesis). ProQuest Information & Learning.
- Creighton, G., & Oliffe, J. L. (2010). Theorising masculinities and men's health: A brief history with a view to practice. *Health Sociology Review*, *19*(4), 409–418.
- Dahl, J., Vescio, T., & Weaver, K. (2015). How threats to masculinity sequentially cause public discomfort, anger, and ideological dominance over women. *Social Psychology*, *46*(4), 242.
- D'Augelli, A. R., Grossman, A. H., & Starks, M. T. (2006). Childhood gender atypicality, victimization, and PTSD among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *21*(11), 1462–1482.
- Demetriou, D. Z. (2001). Connell's concept of hegemonic masculinity: A critique. *Theory and Society*, *30*(3), 337–361.
- Drake, R. E., O'Neal, E. L., & Wallach, M. A. (2008). A systematic review of psychosocial research on psychosocial interventions for people with co-occurring severe mental and substance use disorders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *34*(1), 123–138.
- Edwards, J. R., & Lambert, L. S. (2007). Methods for integrating moderation and mediation: a general analytical framework using moderated path analysis. *Psychological Methods*, *12*(1), 1.

- Eisler, R. M. (1995). The relationship between masculine gender role stress and men's health risk: The validation of a construct.
- Eisler, R. M., & Skidmore, J. R. (1987). Masculine gender role stress: Scale development and component factors in the appraisal of stressful situations. *Behavior Modification*, *11*(2), 123–136.
- Eisler, R. M., Skidmore, J. R., & Ward, C. H. (1988). Masculine gender-role stress: Predictor of anger, anxiety, and health-risk behaviors. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *52*(1), 133–141.
- Erol, A., & Karpyak, V. M. (2015). Sex and gender-related differences in alcohol use and its consequences: contemporary knowledge and future research considerations. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 156, 1–13.
- Ford JD, Elhai JD, Connor DF, Frueh BC (2010) Polyvictimization and risk of posttraumatic, depressive, and substance use disorders and involvement in delinquency in a national sample of adolescents. J Adolesc Health 46:545–552.
- Galdas, P. M. (2009). Men, masculinity, and help-seeking behaviour. *Men's Health: Body, Identity* and Social Context. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell, 63–82.
- Garnets, L., & Pleck, J. H. (1979). Sex role identity, androgyny, and sex role transcendence: A sex role strain analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *3*(3), 270–283.
- Germain, J. L. (2001). Predictors of domestic violence: Power-and-control versus imbalance-of-power and related factors.
- Goldbach, J. T., Tanner-Smith, E. E., Bagwell, M., & Dunlap, S. (2014a). Minority stress and substance use in sexual minority adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Prevention Science*, *15*(3), 350–363.

- Goldbach, J. T., Tanner-Smith, E. E., Bagwell, M., & Dunlap, S. (2014b). Minority stress and substance use in sexual minority adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Prevention Science*, *15*(3), 350–363.
- Good, G. E., & Mintz, L. B. (1990). Gender role conflict and depression in college men: Evidence for compounded risk. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, *69*(1), 17–21.
- Good, G. E., & Wood, P. K. (1995). Male gender role conflict, depression, and help seeking: Do college men face double jeopardy? *Journal of Counseling & Development*, *74*(1), 70–75.
- Hakstian, A. R., Farrell, S., & Tweed, R. G. (2002). The assessment of counterproductive tendencies by means of the California Psychological Inventory. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, *10*(1–2), 58–86.
- Harrison, J. (1995). Roles, identities, and sexual orientation: Homosexuality, heterosexuality, and bisexuality. In R. F. Levant & W. S. Pollack (Eds.), A new psychology of men (pp. 359–382). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Hayes, J. A., & Mahalik, J. R. (2000). Gender role conflict and psychological distress in male counseling center clients. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 1(2), 116.
- Hearn, J. (2012). A multi-faceted power analysis of men's violence to known women: from hegemonic masculinity to the hegemony of men. *The Sociological Review*, *60*(4), 589–610.
- Hearn, J., & Morrell, R. (2012). Reviewing hegemonic masculinities and men in Sweden and South Africa. *Men and Masculinities*, *15*(1), 3–10.
- Heilman, M. E. (2001). Description and prescription: How gender stereotypes prevent women's ascent up the organizational ladder. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 657–674.

- Holtzworth-Munroe, A., Stuart, G. L., & Hutchinson, G. (1997). Violent versus nonviolent husbands: Differences in attachment patterns, dependency, and jealousy. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *11*(3), 314.
- Jakupcak, M., Lisak, D., & Roemer, L. (2002). The role of masculine ideology and masculine gender role stress in men's perpetration of relationship violence. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *3*(2), 97.
- Jones, G. E., Dembo, M. H., & Jones, G. P. (1989). Age and sex role differences in intimate friendships during childhood and adolescence. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly (1982-)*, 445-462.
- Kann, L., Olsen, E. O., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., ... Whittle, L. (2016).
 Sexual Identity, Sex of Sexual Contacts, and Health-Related Behaviors among Students in
 Grades 9-12–United States and Selected Sites, 2015. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.
 Surveillance Summaries. Volume 65, Number 9. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*.
- Kaplan, G. T., & Rogers, L. J. (2003). *Gene worship: Moving beyond the nature/nurture debate over genes, brain, and gender*. Other Press, LLC.
- Kazdin, A. E. (2007). Mediators and mechanisms of change in psychotherapy research. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.*, *3*, 1-27.
- Komorovsky, M. (1976). Dilemmas of masculinity. A Study of College.
- Kraemer, H. C., Stice, E., Kazdin, A., Offord, D., & Kupfer, D. (2001). How do risk factors work
 together? Mediators, moderators, and independent, overlapping, and proxy risk factors.
 American Journal of Psychiatry, 158(6), 848–856.

- Lash, S. J., Eisler, R. M., & Schulnian, R. S. (1990). Cardiovascular reactivity to stress in men: Effects of masculine gender role stress appraisal and masculine performance challenge. *Behavior Modification*, 14(1), 3–20.
- Lazur, R. F., & Majors, R. (1995). Men of color: Ethnocultural variations of male gender role strain. In R. F. Levant & W. S. Pollack (Eds.), A new psychology of men (pp. 337–358). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Levant, R. F. (1992). Toward the reconstruction of masculinity. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *5*(3-4), 379.
- Levant, R. F. (1995). Toward the reconstruction of masculinity.
- Levant, R., Richmond, K., Cook, S., House, A. T., & Aupont, M. (2007). The Femininity Ideology Scale: Factor structure, reliability, convergent and discriminant validity, and social contextual variation. *Sex Roles*, *57*(5–6), 373–383.
- Lisak, D. (1995, August). Integrating gender analysis in psychotherapy with male survivors of abuse. Paper presented at the annual convention of the American Psychological Association, New York, NY.
- Liu, W. M., Rochlen, A., & Mohr, J. J. (2005). Real and Ideal Gender-Role Conflict: Exploring Psychological Distress Among Men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *6*(2), 137.
- Mahalik, J. R. (1999). Incorporating a gender role strain perspective in assessing and treating men's cognitive distortions. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *30*(4), 333.
- Mahalik, J. R., Lagan, H. D., & Morrison, J. A. (2006a). Health behaviors and masculinity in Kenyan and US male college students. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 7(4), 191.

- Mahalik, J. R., Lagan, H. D., & Morrison, J. A. (2006b). Health behaviors and masculinity in Kenyan and US male college students. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 7(4), 191.
- Mahalik, J. R., Levi-Minzi, M., & Walker, G. (2007a). Masculinity and health behaviors in Australian men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 8(4), 240.
- Mahalik, J. R., Levi-Minzi, M., & Walker, G. (2007b). Masculinity and health behaviors in Australian men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 8(4), 240.
- Matud, M. P. (2019). Masculine/Instrumental and Feminine/Expressive Traits and Health, Well-Being, and Psychological Distress in Spanish Men. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *13*(1), 1557988319832749.
- Mechanic, D., & Cleary, P. D. (1980). Factors associated with the maintenance of positive health behavior. *Preventive Medicine*, *9*(6), 805–814.

Miller, J. D., & Lynam, D. R. (2003). Psychopathy and the five-factor model of personality: A replication and extension. Journal of Personality Assessment, 81, 168–178. doi:10.1207/S15327752JPA8102 08

- Moore, T. M., & Stuart, G. L. (2005). A Review of the Literature on Masculinity and Partner Violence. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *6*(1), 46.
- Moore, T. M., Stuart, G. L., McNulty, J. K., Addis, M. E., Cordova, J. V., & Temple, J. R. (2008). Domains of masculine gender role stress and intimate partner violence in a clinical sample of violent men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *9*(2), 82.
- Mosher, D. L., & Sirkin, M. (1984). Measuring a macho personality constellation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *18*(2), 150–163.

- Moss-Racusin, C. A. (2014). Male backlash: penalties for men who violate gender stereotypes. Gender in Organizations: Are Men Allies or Adversaries to Women's Career Advancement.
- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Dovidio, J. F., Brescoll, V. L., Graham, M. J., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Science faculty's subtle gender biases favor male students. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(41), 16474–16479.
- Muller, D., Judd, C. M., & Yzerbyt, V. Y. (2005). When moderation is mediated and mediation is moderated. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *89*(6), 852.
- Nabavi, R. (2004). The" masculinity attitudes, stress, and conformity questionnaire (MASC)": A new measure for studying psychology of men. (PhD Thesis). ProQuest Information & Learning.
- O'Neil, J. M. (1981). Patterns of gender role conflict and strain: Sexism and fear of femininity in men's lives. *The personnel and guidance journal*, *60*(4), 203-210.
- O'Neil, J. M. (2008). Summarizing 25 years of research on men's gender role conflict using the Gender Role Conflict Scale: New research paradigms and clinical implications. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *36*(3), 358–445.
- O'Neil, J. M., Helms, B. J., Gable, R. K., David, L., & Wrightsman, L. S. (1986a). Gender-Role Conflict Scale: College men's fear of femininity. *Sex Roles*, *14*(5–6), 335–350.
- Oquendo MA, Friend JM, Halberstam B, Brodsky BS, Burke AK, Grunebaum MF, Malone KM, Mann JJ (2003) Association of comorbid posttraumatic stress disorder and major depression with greater risk for suicidal behavior. Am J Psychiatry 160(3):580–582
- Organization, W. H. (2013). *Review of social determinants and the health divide in the WHO European Region*.

Pieck, J. H. (1976). The male sex role: Definitions, problems, and sources of change. *Journal of Social Issues*, *32*(3), 155–164.

Pleck, J. H. (1981). *The myth of masculinity*. MIT Press (MA).

Pleck, J. H. (1995). The gender role strain paradigm: An update.

- Reidy, D. E., Schappell D'Inverno, A., Bogen, K. W., Swahn, M. H., & Jacobs, G. M. (2019). Handbook of Interpersonal Violence Across the Lifespan. Springer. In *Masculinity and violence against women from a social-ecological perspective: Implications for prevention*. In R. Geffner, V. Veith, V. Vaughn Eden, A. Rosenbaum, K. Hamberger, & J. White. (Eds.).
- Reidy, Dennis E., Berke, D. S., Gentile, B., & Zeichner, A. (2014). Man enough? Masculine discrepancy stress and intimate partner violence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *68*, 160–164.
- Reidy, Dennis E., Brookmeyer, K. A., Gentile, B., Berke, D. S., & Zeichner, A. (2016a). Gender role discrepancy stress, high-risk sexual behavior, and sexually transmitted disease. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *45*(2), 459–465.
- Reidy, D. E., Kernsmith, P. D., Malone, C. A., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., & Smith-Darden, J. P. (2018a).
 Feminine discrepancy stress and psychosocial maladjustment among adolescent girls. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 49(2), 176-186.
- Reidy, Dennis E., Smith-Darden, J. P., Cortina, K. S., Kernsmith, R. M., & Kernsmith, P. D. (2015). Masculine discrepancy stress, teen dating violence, and sexual violence perpetration among adolescent boys. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *56*(6), 619–624.
- Reidy, D. E., Kearns, M. C., Houry, D., Valle, L. A., Holland, K. M., & Marshall, K. J. (2016b). Dating violence and injury among youth exposed to violence. *Pediatrics*, *137*(2).

- Reidy, Dennis E., Smith-Darden, J. P., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Malone, C. A., & Kernsmith, P. D. (2018b). Masculine Discrepancy Stress and Psychosocial Maladjustment: Implications for Behavioral and Mental Health of Adolescent Boys.
- Reisner, S. L., Greytak, E. A., Parsons, J. T., & Ybarra, M. L. (2015). Gender minority social stress in adolescence: disparities in adolescent bullying and substance use by gender identity. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *52*(3), 243–256.
- Rieger, G., & Savin-Williams, R. C. (2012). Gender nonconformity, sexual orientation, and psychological well-being. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(3), 611–621.
- Ruble, T. L., & Scheer, J. A. (1994). Gender differences in conflict-handling styles: Less than meets the eye? In A. Taylor & J. B. Miller (Eds.), Conflict and gender (pp. 155–166). Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press.
- Rudman, L. A., & Fairchild, K. (2004). Reactions to counterstereotypic behavior: the role of backlash in cultural stereotype maintenance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *87*(2), 157.
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2012b). *The social psychology of gender: How power and intimacy shape gender relations*. Guilford Press.
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (1999). Feminized management and backlash toward agentic women: the hidden costs to women of a kinder, gentler image of middle managers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *77*(5), 1004.
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2001). Prescriptive gender stereotypes and backlash toward agentic women. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(4), 743–762.

- Rudman, L. A., Moss-Racusin, C. A., Phelan, J. E., & Nauts, S. (2012a). Status incongruity and backlash effects: Defending the gender hierarchy motivates prejudice against female leaders. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *48*(1), 165–179.
- Rudman, L. A., & Phelan, J. E. (2008). Backlash effects for disconfirming gender stereotypes in organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *28*, 61–79.
- Rummell, C. M., & Levant, R. F. (2014). Masculine gender role discrepancy strain and self-esteem. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 15(4), 419.
- Sa'nchez, F. J., Westefeld, J. S., Liu, W. M., & Vilain, E. (2010). Masculine gender role conflict and negative feelings about being gay. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 41, 104–111. doi:10.1037/a0015805.
- Sanders, J. M. (2011a). Coming of age: How adolescent boys construct masculinities via substance use, juvenile delinquency, and recreation. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, *10*(1), 48–70.
- Sanders, J. M. (2011b). Coming of age: How adolescent boys construct masculinities via substance use, juvenile delinquency, and recreation. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, *10*(1), 48–70.

Saunders, D. G., Lynch, A. B., Grayson, M., & Linz, D. (1987). *The inventory of beliefs about wifebeating: The construction and initial validation of a measure of beliefs and attitudes.*

- Savin-Williams, R. C., Joyner, K., & Rieger, G. (2012). Prevalence and stability of self-reported sexual orientation identity during young adulthood. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*(1), 103–110.
- Savin-Williams, R. C., & Ream, G. L. (2003). Suicide attempts among sexual-minority male youth. Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 32(4), 509–522.
- Scott-Samuel, A., Crawshaw, P., & Oakley, A. (2015). "Men behaving badly": patriarchy, public policy and health inequalities. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 14(3).

- Sharpe, M. J., & Heppner, P. P. (1991). Gender role, gender-role conflict, and psychological wellbeing in men. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *38*(3), 323.
- Sherif, M., & Sherif, C. W. (1979). Research on intergroup relations. *The Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, *1*, 7–18.
- Silverstein, L. B., Auerbach, C. F., & Levant, R. F. (2002). Contemporary fathers reconstructing masculinity: Clinical implications of gender role strain. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, *33*(4), 361.
- Smiler, A. P. (2004). Thirty years after the discovery of gender: Psychological concepts and measures of masculinity. *Sex Roles*, *50*(1–2), 15–26.

Snow, R. C. (2008). Sex, gender, and vulnerability. *Global Public Health*, 3(S1), 58–74.

- Spence, J. T., & Helmreich, R. L. (1972). *The Attitudes Toward Women Scale: An objective instrument to measure attitudes toward the rights and roles of women in contemporary society*. American Psychological Association.
- Spence, J. T., Helmreich, R. L., & Holahan, C. K. (1979). Negative and positive components of psychological masculinity and femininity and their relationships to self-reports of neurotic and acting out behaviors. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *37*(10), 1673.
- Statistics (US, N. C. for H. (2017). *Health, United States, 2016: with chartbook on long-term trends in health*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus.htm</u>
- Swartout, K. M., Parrott, D. J., Cohn, A. M., Hagman, B. T., & Gallagher, K. E. (2015). Development of the Abbreviated Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale. *Psychological Assessment*, *27*(2), 489.
- Thompson, E. H., & Pleck, J. H. (1995). A new psychology of men. *Masculinity Ideologies: A Review of Research Instrumentation on Men and Masculinity*, 129–163.

- Thompson, Edward H., Pleck, J. H., & Ferrera, D. L. (1992). Men and masculinities: Scales for masculinity ideology and masculinity-related constructs. *Sex Roles*, *27*(11–12), 573–607.
- Thompson Jr, E. H., & Pleck, J. H. (1986). The structure of male role norms. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *29*(5), 531–543.
- Tomarken, A. J., & Waller, N. G. (2005). Structural equation modeling: Strengths, limitations, and misconceptions. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.*, *1*, 31–65.
- Toomey, R. B., Ryan, C., Diaz, R. M., Card, N. A., & Russell, S. T. (2013). *Gender-nonconforming lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth: school victimization and young adult psychosocial adjustment.*
- Unger, R. K. (1979). Toward a redefinition of sex and gender. American Psychologist, 34(11), 1085.
- Vandello, J. A., & Bosson, J. K. (2013). Hard won and easily lost: A review and synthesis of theory and research on precarious manhood. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *14*(2), 101.
- Vandello, J. A., Bosson, J. K., Cohen, D., Burnaford, R. M., & Weaver, J. R. (2008). Precarious manhood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *95*(6), 1325.
- Wang, H., Dwyer-Lindgren, L., Lofgren, K. T., Rajaratnam, J. K., Marcus, J. R., Levin-Rector, A., ...
 Murray, C. J. (2012). Age-specific and sex-specific mortality in 187 countries, 1970–2010: a
 systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, 380(9859), 2071–2094.
- Weaver, J. R., Vandello, J. A., Bosson, J. K., & Burnaford, R. M. (2010). The proof is in the punch: Gender differences in perceptions of action and aggression as components of manhood. *Sex Roles*, *62*(3–4), 241–251.

- Winer, E. S., Cervone, D., Bryant, J., McKinney, C., Liu, R. T., & Nadorff, M. R. (2016). Distinguishing mediational models and analyses in clinical psychology: Atemporal associations do not imply causation. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *72*(9), 947-955.
- Woolley, R. M., & Hakstian, A. R. (1993). A comparative study of integrity tests: The criterion-related validity of personality-based and overt measures of integrity. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 1(1), 27–40.

TABLES and FIGURES

Table 1. Demographics.

	Ν	% a
Race		
Caucasian/White	432	72.0
Other	168	28.0
Sexual Orientation		
Straight	36	83.7
Gay	4	9.3
Bisexual	2	4.7
Trans	0	0.0
Queer	1	2.3
Income		
< than \$5,000	43	7.2
\$5,000-\$9,999	22	3.7
\$10,000-\$14,999	48	8.0
\$15,000-\$19,999	46	7.7
\$20,000-\$24,999	50	8.3
\$25,000-\$29,999	33	5.5
\$30,000- \$34,999	43	7.2
\$35,000-\$39,999	37	6.2
\$40,000-\$49,999	54	9.0
\$50,000-\$59,000	74	12.3
\$60,000-\$74,999	41	6.8
\$75,000-\$99,999	45	7.5
≥\$100,000	63	10.5
Marriages		
0	403	67.2
1	123	20.5
2	14	2.3
3+	7	1.2

Note. Based on a sample of 600 Men.

Latent	Indicators	Correlated	RMSEA	90% CI	CFI	TLI	X ² (df)	р	Loadings
construct		Residuals		022-					
GRD	5	1	.060	.101	.995	.988	12.2 (4)	.02	<u>></u> .78
MDS	5	0	.070	.038- .105	.990	.980	18.8(5)	.00	<u>></u> .54
MGRS	15	6	.078	.070- .087 .054-	.927	.908	(84)	.00	<u>></u> .43
MRNS(a)	8	1	.071	.088	.972	.959	71.8 (19)	.00	<u>></u> .62
SU	6	1	.013	.052	.996	.992	8.8(8)	.36	<u>></u> .20
SRB	4	1	.000	.110	1.0	1.005	0.916(1)	.34	<u>></u> .12
Viol	4	0	.000	.000	1.0	1.0	0.0 (0)	.00	<u>></u> .06

Table 2. Fit Indices for the Measurement Models of the Eight Latent Constructs.

Note. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); SU = Substance Use ; SRB = Sexual Risk Behavior; viol = Violence; Items = the number of indicators for each construct; Correlated Residuals = the number of pairs of error terms allowed to correlate; RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; CFI = Comparative Fit Index; TLI = Tucker Lewis Index; χ^2 = Chi-square value with degrees of freedom in parentheses; p = significance value; Loadings = Factor Loadings FIGURE 1. Conceptual superordinate measurement model.



NOTE. No Parameter estimates for these variables are presented.

FIGURE 2. Conceptual superordinate model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on super ordinate model psychosocial adjustment.



NOTE. No Parameter estimates for these variables are presented. MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); Deliq = Delinquency Onset; SUD = Substance Use; SRB = Sexual Risk Behavior; viol = Violence; gam= pathologic gambling; std=sexually transmitted disease; psydx=psychiatric diagnosis. Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model.

FIGURE 3. Conceptual full model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on outcomes.



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 3. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); Deliq = Delinquency Onset; SUD = Substance Use; SRB = Sexual Risk Behavior; viol = Violence; gam= pathologic gambling; std=sexually transmitted disease; psydx=psychiatric diagnosis. Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model

FIGURE 4. Conceptual individual model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Delinquency onset



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 4. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); Deliq = Delinquency Onset; Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model.

FIGURE 5. Conceptual individual model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Stress on Substance Use



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 4. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); SU = Substance Use. Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model

FIGURE 6. Conceptual individual model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Sexual Risk Behavior.



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 4. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); SRB=Sexual Risk Behavior. Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural mode
FIGURE 7. Conceptual individual I model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on Violence.



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 4. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); Viol= Violence; Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model. **FIGURE 8.** Conceptual individual model testing the effects of Gender Role Discrepancy and Masculine Discrepancy Stress on STD, Pathological Gambling, and Psychiatric History.



NOTE. Parameter estimates for these variables are presented in Table 4. GRD = Gender Role Discrepancy; MDS = Masculine Discrepancy Stress; MGRS= Masculine Gender Role Stress Scale; MRNSa = Male Role Norms Sub-scale (antifemininity); STD=Sexually Transmitted Disease; PSYCHDX=Psychiatric Diagnosis; GAMB=Gambling. Dashed lines represent bidirectional controlled paths estimated as part of the fully saturated structural model.